THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000156
Case No. 2012-CP-22-00558

David M. Repko.....Appellant,

v.

County of GeorgetownRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ryan P. Compton

Stephen L. Goldfinch, Jr.
Thomas W. Winslow
Goldfinch Winslow, LLC
11019 Tournament Blvd., Ste. 202
P.O. Box 829
Murrells Inlet, SC 29576
(843) 357-9301

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

SEP 02 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err in construing Article V, Section 3-1 of the Georgetown County Improvement Standards Ordinance to preclude a *tort-like* “duty” even though the plain language of the Ordinance disclaims only a *financial-like* “obligation?”

2. Did the Circuit Court err in relying on the Ordinance’s Sovereign Immunity provision even though that provision is unenforceable because it is preempted by and inconsistent with the South Carolina Tort Claims Act?

3. Did the Circuit Court err in granting a directed verdict for Georgetown County on the ground that Article V, Section 3-1 of the Ordinance did not create a “special duty” owed to Repko even though Repko presented evidence of all six elements of the “existence of a special duty” test?

4. Did the Circuit Court err in granting a directed verdict for Georgetown County on the ground that S.C. Code Section 15-78-60(4) provided the County with immunity to Repko’s negligence claim?

5. Did the Circuit Court err in granting a directed verdict for Georgetown County on the ground that S.C. Code Section 15-78-60(5) provided the County with immunity to Repko’s negligence claim?

6. Did the Circuit Court err in granting a directed verdict for Georgetown County on the ground that S.C. Code Section 15-78-60(13) provided the County with immunity to Repko’s negligence claim?

7. Did the Circuit Court Judge err by not recusing himself pursuant to Canons 2 and 3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct, Rule 501, SCACR, based upon prior business relationships concerning the transactions involved?

8. Did the Circuit Court Judge's failure to recuse himself deprive Repko of the right to due process guaranteed by the Constitutions of South Carolina and the United States?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 20, 2013, David M. Repko filed a civil action for damages against Georgetown County. He filed this suit in the Court of Common Pleas for Georgetown County. (R. pp. 17-24). Repko alleged that he was the owner of two undeveloped lots in Phase D-1 of the West Stewart Subdivision of Harmony Township, a planned development located in Georgetown County. He further alleged that the County's negligence and gross negligence in handling a financial guarantee posted by the subdivision's developer resulted in the loss of most of the funds that were to be used in building the subdivision's infrastructure. Repko also alleged that: (1) the developer failed to complete the infrastructure; (2) that there were insufficient funds to complete the infrastructure (due to the County's gross negligence); and (3) that the lack of infrastructure reduced his property value to "zero." Repko sought to recover "past and future actual damages." (R. p. 23, ¶ 16).

The County filed an Answer on May 18, 2012, denying liability and raising affirmative defenses that alleged, in relevant part, that Repko's claims were barred by six immunity provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act ("SCTCA" hereinafter), specifically Sections 15-78-60(1), (2), (4), (5), (12), and (13) of the South Carolina Code. (R. p. 28, ¶ 19).

Two independent actions were merged into the Appellant's case in preparation for trial. Prior to trial, those above-captioned Plaintiffs settled and their cases were dismissed. As a result, Repko was the sole Plaintiff in the case which proceeded to trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson on September 16, 2013. The County moved for a directed verdict at the close of the Plaintiff's evidence. Judge Culbertson

granted this motion from the bench and, by Order dated September 13, 2013, entered judgment in favor of the County and against Repko. (R. p. 249, lines 9-10).

Subsequently, Repko filed a Motion for Reconsideration and New Trial on October 9, 2013. Judge Culbertson heard this motion on December 19, 2013 and denied it without comment by Form 4 Order that same day. On January 15, 2014, Repko filed and served a Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Georgetown County Improvement Standards Ordinances

Georgetown County regulates improvements to major subdivisions through the provisions of Article V of the Georgetown County Ordinances. (R. pp. 281-286). Those ordinances provide that “[f]inal plans shall not be approved for recording unless the [developer] has installed the required improvements as specified and required in this Article, *or* has provided a financial guarantee as specified in Section 3 of this Article.” (R. p. 281)(Ordinance, Art. V, § 1-5)(emphasis added). “Required improvements” include installation of: monuments at street corners; a storm water management system; specified roadway improvements, including grading and paving; and utilities and services. Alternatively, the ordinances instruct that “financial guarantees:”

[M]ay be posted in lieu of completing improvements required by this Ordinance to allow for the recording of a final plat or to obtain building permits for properties for which ownership will be transferred . . . Acceptance of financial guarantees is discretionary and Georgetown County reserves the right to refuse a financial guarantee for any remaining improvements and require that such improvements be completed before the recording of a final plat or issuance of building permits. Acceptance of a financial guarantee by Georgetown County shall not be construed as an *obligation* to any other agency, utility or property owner within affected developments.

(R. p. 284)(Ordinance, Art. V, § 3-1)(emphasis added); *see* Statement of Issues on Appeal, No. 1.

If a developer seeks to post a financial guarantee, the following procedure must be followed as delineated in Section 3-2. First, the financial guarantee must be submitted to the Georgetown County Planning Department (“Planning Department” hereinafter) along with an “itemized cost estimate” for the improvements that the financial guarantee will cover. The itemized cost estimate must: (1) bear the original signature and seal of a licensed professional engineer; (2) be on company letterhead; and (3) be in a form acceptable to the Planning Department. “Upon receipt of an itemized cost estimate, the Planning Department shall forward such estimate to the appropriate departments or agencies for review.” (R. p. 284)(Ordinance, Art. V, § 3-2).

The County may accept, *inter alia*, a letter of credit as a financial guarantee. An approved letter of credit must adhere to these six specific standards: (1) be equal to 125% of the approved cost estimate; (2) be issued for an initial coverage period not less than 12 months from the date the final plat is submitted for recording; (3) be irrevocable, unconditional and subject to presentation for drawing within the State of South Carolina; (4) be payable to Georgetown County; (5) be for no less than \$10,000 in construction; and (6) substantially conform to the format shown in Appendix B, Certificate 1. (R. pp. 284-85)(Ordinance, Art. V, § 3-3). An approved guarantee, however, “shall be independent of the development project’s construction loan” because “[p]ayment of monthly expenditures is the sole responsibility of the developer and does not affect the amount of money held by the Planning Department.” (R. p. 284)(Ordinance, Art. V, § 3-3).

If the County accepts a financial guarantee from the developer, the County normally holds the guarantee until all covered improvements are completed unless a reduction in the guarantee has been approved pursuant to the following procedure:

A developer may reduce a financial guarantee during the initial coverage period. A request to reduce the financial guarantee shall be submitted to the Planning Department and include a revised construction cost estimate. The Planning Department will forward the revised cost estimate to the Georgetown County Department of Public Works for approval. Reductions of financial guarantees will not be allowed within 6-months of any previous reduction request and shall be no less than 125% of the revised construction cost estimate.

(R. p. 285)(Ordinance, Art. V, § 3-5).

At trial, the Planning Department's Chief Planner testified that the County required, in addition to the requirement of Section 3-5, "a letter from the engineer certifying that the work had been complete and certifying the number, the dollar amounts that were left to be done." (R. p. 101, lines 16-19; p. 116, lines 1-3). Likewise, the Planning Department's director testified that the County should receive an estimate from an engineer with a cost to complete before approval of a reduction in the guarantee. (R. p. 147, line 11; p. 162, lines 4-12 and 18-20).

Harmony Holdings, LLC Posts Letters of Credit in Lieu of Completing Required Improvements in Harmony Township.

In the early 2000's, Harmony Holdings, LLC ("Harmony Holdings" hereinafter) began developing the Harmony Township community within Georgetown County. Although roads, utilities, and other required improvements were not constructed in the community, Harmony Holdings sought permission from the Planning Department to begin selling the undeveloped lots to buyers. The County allowed Harmony Holdings to post letters of credit as a financial guarantee in lieu of completing the required

improvements. (R. p. 104, lines 10-13). Harmony Holdings posted a letter of credit for each phase of Harmony Township, including a letter of credit for Phase 2-D-1 of the West Stewart Subdivision. (R. p. 104, lines 17-19 and 20-23).

Harmony Holdings applied to Wachovia Bank, National Association to obtain a letter of credit for Phase 2-D-1. Upon granting the application, Wachovia issued a letter of credit on May 23, 2006 entitled Clean, Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit Number SM220037W in the amount of \$1,301,705.63 (“Wachovia letter of credit” hereinafter). (R. p. 294). The letter of credit designated Georgetown County as beneficiary and Harmony Holdings, LLC as applicant.

Shortly thereafter, Harmony Holdings submitted the letter of credit to the Planning Department. It also submitted an engineer’s estimate of \$1,040,000.00 as the cost of completing the required improvements. Accordingly, the \$1,301,705.63 Wachovia letter of credit was 125% of the engineer’s estimated amount. (R. p. 108, lines 18-24).

Upon acceptance of the submissions, the Planning Department permitted Harmony Holdings to sell undeveloped lots in Phase 2-D-1. The Plat for Phase 2-D-1 was recorded on May 24, 2006. An employee of the Planning Department certified on the Plat that the County held a letter of credit in the amount of \$1,301,705.63 to “ensure the completion of the remaining public improvements.” (R. p. 113, lines 8-10); *see* (R. pp. 292-93).

The County Approves the Developer’s Successive Requests for Reductions in the Letter of Credit.

First Request and Approval for Reduction

On July 20, 2006, Harmony Holdings submitted a request for reduction in the letter of credit to the County. (R. pp. 295-97). The request referenced “Pay Request # 3”

and included an Application and Certificate for Payment for Phase 2-D, which was signed by an Earthworks Group employee. The application described Earthworks as the architect for the project. (*Id.*).

In a letter to Wachovia dated July 26, 2006, the County advised that it approved a request to reduce the letter of credit by \$331,311.00. (R. p. 298); *see* (R. p. 114, lines 16-20). The reduction request was approved despite noncompliance with the Ordinances and the Planning Department's protocol. First, the County approved the request without the required letter of an engineer certifying that "the work had been complete[d]" and [the] dollar amounts that were left to be done." (R. 116, lines 1-3). Second, the County approved the request without "forward[ing] the revised cost estimate to the Georgetown County Department of Public Works for approval." Third, the County approved the request even though it indicated that the developer sought to use the letter of credit funds to pay its contractor, contrary to Section 3-3. Fourth, an engineer's cost of completion estimate made by Earthworks on December 6, 2006, showed that the County approved the request without retaining 125% of the funds needed to complete the infrastructure; the estimate showed that virtually no work was done at that time on the infrastructure of Phase 2-D-1. *See* (R. pp. 306-312). Pursuant to the County's letter, Wachovia released \$331,000 thereby reducing the letter of credit to \$970,394.63. (R. p. 114, line 24 – p. 115, line 3).

Second Request and Approval for Reduction

On September 25, 2006, the developer submitted its second request for reduction in the letter of credit. This request sought a reduction of \$117,024.42, and like the first request for a reduction, it included an Application and Certificate for Payment that was

signed by an Earthworks employee. (R. pp. 300-01); *see* (R. p. 118, line 25 – p. 119, line 8).

In fall 2006, Repko contracted with Harmony Holdings to purchase Lots 1077 and 1076, in Phase 2-D-1. Repko, who planned to build his retirement home on these lots, paid \$78,000.00 for Lot 1077 and \$77,000.00 for Lot 1076. (R. p. 186, lines 7-22). Harmony Holdings executed the deeds on October 3, 2006, thereby transferring both lots to Repko. (R. pp. 318-328). Repko knew that the developer had not yet installed infrastructure on the lots, but Repko was not concerned because he knew that the developer posted financial guarantees with the County. Repko testified that he would not have purchased the lots had the developer not posted financial guarantees with the County. (R. p. 192, lines 7-12).

On October 9, 2006, just six days after Repko closed on the lots, the County approved the second request for reduction and, by letter, advised Wachovia to reduce the letter of credit by \$117,024.42. (R. p. 299); (R. p. 117, lines 15-23). Accordingly, the County approved the request for reduction: (1) without a letter from an engineer certifying that the work had been done and providing a cost of completion estimate; (2) without forwarding a cost of completion estimate to the Department of Public Works for completion; (3) without retaining 125% of the funds needed to complete the infrastructure, as shown in the engineer's cost of completion estimate, made by Earthworks on December 6, 2006; (4) even though the Application and Certificate for Payment indicated that the developer was seeking to use the letter of credit funds to pay his contractor; and (5) even though the reduction was requested within six months of the previous request, contrary to Section 3-5. Pursuant to the County's letter, Wachovia

released \$117,024.42 thereby reducing the letter of credit to \$853,370.21. (R. p. 117, line 7 – p. 118, line 1).

Third Request and Approval for Reduction

In a letter to the County dated November 7, 2006, Earthworks advised that it approved pay application number three for Phase 2-D, reflecting work completed as of October 25, 2006 and totaling \$300,000.00. (R. pp. 302-04); (R. p. 123, lines 5-6). The letter included an Application and Certificate for Payment apparently signed by the architect. (R. pp. 302-04).

On November 8, 2006, the County approved the third request for reduction and, by letter, advised Wachovia to reduce the letter of credit by \$300,000.00. (R. p. 305). At trial, the County's Chief Planner testified that the third reduction request was approved based upon Earthworks' "letter and approval of the \$300,000." (R. p. 124, lines 9-13). Accordingly, the County again approved the request: (1) without a letter from an engineer certifying that the work had been done and providing a cost of completion estimate; (2) without having sought approval from the Department of Public Works, as required in Section 3-5; (3) without retaining 125% of the funds needed to complete the infrastructure; (4) even though the Application and Certificate for Payment indicated that the developer was using letter of credit funds to pay its contractor, contrary to Section 3-3; and (5) even though the request was made within six months of the earlier two requests, in violation of Section 3-5. (R. p. 123, lines 11-13; p. 124, lines 16-18). Also, at the time of approval, virtually no work was done on the infrastructure of Phase 2-D-1. (R. p. 306). Pursuant to the County's letter, Wachovia released \$300,000.00 thereby further reducing the letter of credit to \$553,370.21. (R. p. 124, lines 23-25).

By letter dated December 6, 2006, Earthworks advised the County's Public Works Department that it "reviewed and accepted the following changes in price to Harmony 2D1 and 2D2." (R. p. 306). An "Opinion of Probable Cost" for Phase 2-D-1, attached thereto, provided an estimated cost of \$1,153,205.45 to complete: (1) the sewer and water systems; and (2) the roads, site, and drainage remaining improvements. (*Id.*); (R. p. 126, lines 13-15; p. 127, line 1). The cost of completing the infrastructure for Phase 2-D-1 was \$1,153,205.45. (R. p. 127, lines 10-12). Because the engineer's original estimate was \$1,040,000.00, this 2006 estimate shows that virtually no work was done on the infrastructure because the remaining estimated costs were actually *higher* than the original estimate.

Fourth Request and Approval for Reduction

On March 9, 2007, Harmony Holdings emailed the County a "revised pay request from February 7, 2007" covering pay application # 4 for Phase 2-D-1 and also requested reduction in the Wachovia letter of credit by an amount of \$396,666.18. (R. p. 313); (R. p. 129, lines 13-24; p. 130, lines 24-25). Then, by letter dated April 3, 2007, Earthworks advised the County that pay application 4 reflected work completed by February 28, 2006 and also included an Application and Certificate for Payment containing the contractor's request for payment of \$396,666.18. (R. pp. 314-15). The pay application had an illegible signature, however, the words "for Steve Strickland" were handwritten by the signature. Also, "Engineer" was handwritten in the signature block and the printed word "ARCHITECT" was marked through with two lines. (R. p. 315).

On April 5, 2007, the County approved the fourth request for reduction and, by letter, advised Wachovia to reduce the letter of credit by \$396,666.18. (R. p. 316); (R. p.

132, lines 16-24). The County approved this request: (1) without having sought approval from the Department of Public Works, as required in Section 3-5; (2) without retaining 125% of the funds needed to complete the infrastructure, contrary to Section 3-5; (3) even though the Application and Certificate for Payment indicated that the developer was using letter of credit funds to pay its contractor, contrary to Section 3-3; and (4) even though the request was made within six months of the earlier two requests, contrary to Section 3-5. (R. p. 123, lines 11-13; p. 124, lines 16-18). Pursuant to the County's letter, Wachovia released \$396,666.18 thereby further reducing the letter of credit to a mere \$156,704.03. (R. p. 317); (R. p. 133, line 2).

In an April 7, 2007 letter, Georgetown Water and Sewer District advised the County that an inspection of the water and sewer lines in Phase 2-D-1 was completed. (R. p. 365); (R. p. 141, lines 3-8). The letter advised that water and sewer lines were completed as indicated in the Earthworks letter, however, it failed to provide a cost to complete the infrastructure. (R. p. 144, lines 11-16; p. 141, lines 14-22).

At some point before the Wachovia letter of credit expired on May 23, 2007, the developer provided the County with a \$140,000.00 check. The County placed these funds in a segregated account to be used at Harmony but cashed in a letter of credit covering Phase 2-D-2. (R. p. 135, lines 11-13; p. 167, lines 14-23; p. 168, lines 1-2).

Aside from the water and sewer work described in the foregoing letters, virtually no other work on the infrastructure for Phase 2-D-1 was completed by this time. Furthermore, from May of 2007 until August of 2007, the developer failed to complete *any* meaningful progress on the infrastructure. In August of 2007, the developer met with County's planning staff and advised that "he no longer had the financial means to put any

infrastructure within any phase of Harmony” and that, because the letters of credit were about to expire, “to call all the letters of credit that were still in good standing.” (R. p. 61, lines 1-4 and 11-13).

Harmony Holdings subsequently declared bankruptcy. At that time, the developer failed to complete basic infrastructure, such as utilities or roads, within Phase 2-D-1. Although the letter of credit was originally a sufficient amount of \$1,301,705.63, the repetitive reductions approved by the County whittled the funds to \$140,000.00, an amount that is wholly insufficient to enable completion of the Phase’s infrastructure.

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