THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000156
Case No. 2012-CP-22-00558

David M. Repko,.....Appellant,

v.

County of Georgetown,.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Robert L. Widener
McNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 799-9800

David J. Mills
McNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.
Post Office Box 1469
Pawleys Island, South Carolina 29585
(843) 235-4100

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SEP 03 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

Plaintiff next argues that the regulation imposes a duty on employees of County's Planning Department and Department of Public Works. (Init. App. Br. 23). This does not and cannot satisfy the requirement of imposing a duty on a "*specific* public officer." Moreover, as Plaintiff concedes on appeal, responsibility under the ordinance is divided amongst several departments and employees: the decision to accept a financial guarantee "is imposed on employees of the County's Planning Department" and the ordinance then tasks "the Planning Department *and* the Department of Public Works with the duty overseeing any reduction in these funds." (Init. App. Br. 23) (all emphasis added). Thus, there is no "*specific* public officer" charged with a duty to guard against or not cause harm.

Affirmance on this ground moots all other issues on appeal, including all recusal issues. *Futch*, 518 S.E.2d at 598; *Dropkin*, 644 S.E.2d at 811; *Weeks*, 353 S.E.2d at 292.

The trial court also found that the third element of the “special duty test” had not been met, because the class of persons that the statute “intends” to protect is not identifiable before the fact. (R. 8). On appeal, Plaintiff argues that “[t]he ordinance *intends* to protect” persons who purchase a lot in a development covered by a financial guarantee. (Init. App. Br. 23) (emphasis added). The ordinance clearly had no such “intent” – it specifically disavowed any obligation to any “property owner within affected developments.” (Cnty. Reg. § 3-1). Affirmance on this ground moots all other issues on appeal, including all recusal issues. *Futch*, 518 S.E.2d at 598; *Dropkin*, 644 S.E.2d at 811; *Weeks*, 353 S.E.2d at 292.

II. County is immune from liability under the Tort Claims Act, and Plaintiff’s contrary arguments are not preserved for appeal and have no merit.

The trial court held that County was immune from liability under three subsections (4), (5), and (13) of § 15-78-60 in the Tort Claims Act. (R. 8-11). As demonstrated below, Plaintiff’s contrary arguments are not preserved for appeal and have no merit.

A. County is immune from liability pursuant to § 15-78-60(4), and Plaintiff’s contrary arguments are without merit and not preserved for appeal.

The trial court held that § 15-78-60(4)⁵ granted immunity to County under the following analysis and ruling:

The gravamen of the Plaintiff’s Complaint *and his trial evidence* was that [County] failed to comply with or enforce its own regulation regarding the acceptance and reduction of a financial guarantee. Simply put, Plaintiff

⁵ Section 15-78-60(4) provides that a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from the “adoption, enforcement, or compliance with any law or any failure to adopt or enforce any law, whether valid or invalid, including but not limited to any charter, provision, ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation, or written policies.”

contended that [County] adopted the Development Regulation relating to financial guarantees and the *failed to enforce it against itself*. . . . Plaintiff's allegations of failure to enforce the Development Regulations fall squarely within exception § 15-78-60(4)

(R. 9-10) (emphasis added). Plaintiff never challenges this ruling on appeal. It is therefore the law of this case. *First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (S.C. App. 1998). Moreover, the trial court was manifestly correct – subsection (4) grants immunity from any claim based on a failure to enforce a regulation, and Plaintiff's entire claim rests upon County's alleged failure to abide by the Regulations: (See R. 247, where Plaintiff asserts that County was “negligent as to how they handled the funds, which is the *whole basis of our negligence claim* in this case.”) (emphasis added).

At trial, Plaintiff's only argument against immunity under subsection (4) was made in response to the trial court's question regarding the “failure to enforce any law including an ordinance.” (R. 245). Plaintiff's entire argument is set forth below:

At that point, Your Honor, they're not, they're not failing to enforce this ordinance. They actually in their enforcement mechanism they're required to make sure that they administer the reductions in the letter of credit properly. They're not looking to enforce an ordinance. They have an administrative function at that point to ensure that these monies are not improperly reduced or spent and that's what's happened in this case. This isn't – this doesn't go to adoption or enforcement of a law or statute. It goes directly to the handling of their own functions within the, within the County offices.

(R. 245). In short, Plaintiff argued only that subsection (4) did not apply, because it did not include County's failure to follow the ordinance, *i.e.*, County's failure to enforce the ordinance against itself. Plaintiff never pursues this argument on appeal. (Init. App. Br. 27-29, *passim*). Thus, Plaintiff has abandoned this argument.

Plaintiff's only argument on appeal is that the immunity granted by subsection (4) is subject to an exception for “gross negligence.” (Init. App. Br. 27-29). Plaintiff did not

make this argument at trial. (See R. 224-251, *passim*). Therefore, he cannot make this argument on appeal. *In re Michael H.*, 602 S.E.2d at 732 (issue not raised at trial is not preserved for appeal). Plaintiff also did not make this argument in his Rule 59 motion. (See R. 381-382, *passim*).

Seventy-nine (79) days after the trial court's order, and seventy-one (71) days after Plaintiff filed his motion to reconsider, the trial court held a hearing on Plaintiff's motion. At this hearing, Plaintiff handed up a memorandum and argued for the first time that the immunity granted by subsection (4) was subject to an exception for "gross negligence." (R. 255, 265-267, 397-408). It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider. *Patterson v. Reid*, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (S.C. App. 1995). It is therefore equally axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time at oral argument on a motion to reconsider. Thus, this issue is not preserved for appeal.

The trial court summarily denied Plaintiff's motion to reconsider as follows: "Plaintiff's motion to reconsider and for new trial is denied." (R. 15-16). Since Plaintiff did not raise the "gross negligence" issue until the motions hearing, this order was the trial court's first opportunity to address the issue. This order did not mention or rule specifically on the "gross negligence" issue. Plaintiff did not file a motion to obtain a ruling. Thus, his appellate arguments are not preserved for appeal. *Johnson v. Lloyd*, 757 S.E.2d 705, 706 (S.C. 2014).

In short, Plaintiff's only argument against immunity under subsection (4) is not preserved for appellate review and, therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling. This affirmance would moot all other issues, because the trial court's ruling under § 15-78-60(4) was an independent ground for directing a verdict against Plaintiff. *Dropkin*

v. Beachwalk Villas Condo. Ass'n, Inc., 644 S.E.2d 808, 811 (S.C. App. 2007); see also *Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc.*, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (S.C. 1999) (when ruling on one issue is dispositive of the appeal, the appellate court need not address any other issues).

Plaintiff's "gross negligence" argument is also not properly before this Court for other reasons. It rests upon the Supreme Court's ruling in *Steinke v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing and Reg.*, 520 S.E.2d 142 (S.C. 1999) that when an exception to liability containing a gross negligence standard applies to a case, the gross negligence standard is read into any other applicable exceptions. Plaintiff argues that the immunity granted by § 15-78-60(12) was raised by the County and, since it contains a "gross negligence" standard, that standard also applies to the subsection (4) immunity found by the trial court in this case. As noted earlier, this argument is not preserved for appeal, because Plaintiff did not make this argument at trial. It also not properly before this Court for two other reasons. First, Plaintiff successfully argued at trial that subsection (12) did not apply here. (R. 246). He cannot change positions on appeal. *State v. Bailey*, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (S.C. 1989) (cannot make one argument at trial and a different argument on appeal). Second, the trial court ruled that subsection (12) did not apply to this case. (R. 11; see also R. 249, where trial court rules that subsection (12) is not "applicable"). Neither party has appealed this ruling, so it is the law of the case. *First Union*, 511 S.E.2d at 378. Thus, Plaintiff's "gross negligence" arguments fails, because the premise of the argument – the applicability of subsection (12) – is barred by the law of the case doctrine and Plaintiff cannot argue on appeal that subsection (12) applies. In any event, Plaintiff's argument has no merit.

In *Steinke*, the Supreme Court held that “when an *applicable* exception contains the gross negligence standard, then any other *relevant* exception must be read in light of that standard.” 520 S.E.2d at 158 (emphasis added). The rationale for this ruling is simple and straightforward. If the conduct protected by a subsection with a gross negligence exception is the same conduct protected by another subsection without a gross negligence exception, then it would make no sense to allow the governmental entity to escape “gross negligence” liability for that conduct. *Id.* at 154 (gross negligence standard applies to all exceptions from liability “when it is contained in one *applicable* exception”) (emphasis added). Here, Plaintiff’s entire claim rests solely upon how County handled the letter of credit (See R. 247, where Plaintiff asserts that County was “negligent as to how they handled the funds, which is the *whole basis of our negligence claim* in this case.”) (emphasis added). Subsection (12) clearly does not apply to this claim, because this case does not involve any “licensing” decision by County.⁶ Since subsection (12) does not apply to Plaintiff’s claim, the “gross negligence” standard in subsection (12) does not apply to any other exceptions, *i.e.*, it does not apply to the exceptions in subsections (4), (5), and (13).⁷ Affirmance on this ground moots all other issues on appeal, including all recusal issues. *Futch*, 518 S.E.2d at 598; *Dropkin*, 644 S.E.2d at 811; *Weeks*, 353 S.E.2d at 292.

⁶ Section 15-78-60(12) provides that a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from “licensing powers or functions including, but not limited to, the issuance, denial, suspension, renewal, or revocation of or failure or refusal to issue, deny, suspend, renew, or revoke any permit, license, certificate, approval, registration, order, or similar authority except when the power or function is exercised in a grossly negligent manner.”

⁷ Plaintiff never argues that subsection (12) applies to his claim. (Init. App. Br. 27-29, *passim*). Rather, he argues only that County asserted subsection (12) as a defense and this assertion itself made the “gross negligence” standard applicable to the other exceptions. (See Init. App. Br. at 27, stating that gross negligence applied “[b]ecause subsection (12) was *raised* by the [County]”; and at 28, stating that “[b]ecause the [County] *raised* subsection (12) as a defense . . .” (Emphasis added). The question, however, is whether subsection (12) *applies* to this case, not whether it was *raised*. Plaintiff never argues that subsection (12) applies, and it clearly does not apply. Thus, the gross negligence standard in subsection (12) does not apply to subsections (4), (5), or (13) in this case.

B. County is immune from liability pursuant to § 15-78-60(5), and Plaintiff's contrary arguments are without merit and not preserved for appeal.

The trial court held that § 15-78-60(5) granted immunity to County, because the decision to accept and reduce a financial guarantee was a discretionary act. (R. 10).⁸ On appeal, Plaintiff concedes the correctness of this ruling: “the Court *correctly* noted that the County’s decisions to accept financial guarantees and *to subsequently authorize reductions* in the letter of credit *were all discretionary acts.*” (Init. App. Br. 30) (emphasis added).

Plaintiff nevertheless argues that: (1) County failed to show it had weighed competing alternatives under accepted professional standards; and (2) County did not rely on proper documentation or otherwise adhere to the regulations. (Init. App. Br. 30-31). Plaintiff did not make these arguments to the trial court (R. 246) and, therefore, these arguments cannot be made on appeal. *In re Michael H.*, 602 S.E.2d at 732.

Plaintiff also argues that the gross negligence standard from subsection (12) applies to subsection (5). (Init. App. Br. 31-32). As shown earlier, this argument is not preserved for appeal and has no merit. (See Arg. II(A), *supra*).

Finally, Plaintiff argues in a single sentence that “subsection (5) does not entitle the County to immunity because the requirement that the County always retain 125% of the outstanding completion costs is mandatory and is not subject to discretion.” (Init. App. Br. 30). This single-sentence argument is too conclusory to present any issue on appeal and is therefore an abandonment of this issue. *Bean v. South Carolina Cent. R. Co., Inc.*, 709

⁸ Section 15-78-60(5) provides that a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from “the exercise of discretion or judgment by the governmental entity or employee or the performance or failure to perform any act or service which is in the discretion or judgment of the governmental entity or employee.”

S.E.2d 99, 113 (S.C. App. 2011). Affirmance on the foregoing grounds moots all other issues. *Futch*, 518 S.E.2d at 598; *Dropkin*, 644 S.E.2d at 811; *Weeks*, 353 S.E.2d at 292.

In any event, the trial court ruled correctly. County had discretion to reduce the letter of credit – Plaintiff concedes this. There is evidence from which one could infer the letter of credit was reduced below 125% of the costs to complete the infrastructure, but this was simply a mistake by County, *i.e.*, negligence, and subsection (5) provides immunity for such negligence. Thus, the trial court correctly found that subsection (5) provided immunity to County. Affirmance on this ground moots all other issues on appeal, including all recusal issues. *Futch*, 518 S.E.2d at 598; *Dropkin*, 644 S.E.2d at 811; *Weeks*, 353 S.E.2d at 292.

C. The question of immunity pursuant to § 15-78-60(13) is now moot, because Plaintiff concedes on appeal that he is not pursuing any “duty to inspect theory” or any violation of that duty.

The trial court held that § 15-78-60(13) granted immunity to County, because Plaintiff elicited testimony that County had not inspected the property before reducing the letter of credit, and subsection (13) granted immunity for any failure to inspect. (R. 11). Plaintiff concedes on appeal that he is not seeking recovery under any “failure to inspect” theory. (Init. App. Br. 32-33). Thus, this issue is now moot.

III. Plaintiff’s “recusal” issue is frivolous, and it is not preserved for appeal.

Plaintiff orally raised the recusal issue for the first time at the hearing on his motion to reconsider and for new trial. (R. 268-270). It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider. *Patterson v. Reid*, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (S.C. App. 1995). It is therefore equally axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first

time at oral argument on a motion to reconsider. Thus, Plaintiff's recusal arguments are not preserved for appellate review.

The trial court summarily denied the motion as follows: "Plaintiff's motion to reconsider and for new trial is denied." (R. 15-16). Since Plaintiff did not raise the "recusal" issue until the motions hearing, this order was the trial court's first opportunity to address the issue. This order did not mention or rule specifically on the "recusal" issue. Plaintiff did not file a motion to obtain a ruling. Thus, his appellate arguments are not preserved for appeal. *Johnson*, 757 S.E.2d at 706. As shown below, Plaintiff's recusal issue is also not preserved for other reasons. More importantly, Plaintiff's recusal issue is frivolous.

Since Plaintiff accuses the trial judge of impropriety, it is worthwhile to quote the entire transcript on this matter:

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